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Author’s Introduction to the
Second Edition

Although many of the events in this book took place more than one hundred years ago, Olympic’s history is still evolving. Researchers continue to unearth new information or documentation that improves our understanding, changes perspectives or adds to our knowledge of the ship and her life. The continuing analysis only improves our comprehension.

The original book’s goal was to draw attention to Olympic in her own right, rather than as the sister ship of one of the most famous ships in the world. To a large extent, it succeeded, and it won considerable praise. However, it was largely written fourteen years ago and appeared in print in 2004. Building on original research, it introduced a lot of new or previously little-known material, from small anecdotes to more substantial information: J. Bruce Ismay’s request to Cunard for working drawings of some Mauretania windows that would be suitable for Olympic, which sheds light on the degree of mutual co-operation that existed between the rival companies; Chief Engineer Bell’s report of the maiden voyage; detailed information about Cunard’s research into Olympic, based on designer assessments of her public rooms and interiors; an engineering viewpoint of her machinery and overall layout; and the notes Cunard’s naval architect, Leonard Peskett, made when he travelled on board in August 1911, which provided an interesting insight to life at sea on Olympic during her first summer season. Anecdotes, extracts from diaries during peacetime, as well as previously unpublished accounts of life on board during the war, all combined to shed new light on her career. Data of Olympic’s passenger carryings over the years, provided with generous assistance from other researchers, helped to illustrate the context in which she succeeded, and then the inevitable decline when new competitors and the Great Depression took their toll in the 1930s. Detailed accounts of the Hawke collision, the sinking of the U103, the Fort St George and Nantucket Lightship collisions all included new information or facts that were not widely known, even to the modern day exploration of the sunken lightship, for the first time in a single volume.

Now, the second edition is intended to add to our knowledge with the addition of other material and more rare illustrations. Much of it could only have been provided through the kind-hearted generosity of other researchers. In particular, the chapter covering the Hawke collision has been expanded, with additional testimony about the accident and information about the appeals that followed; rare photographs have been added covering the mutiny in 1912, and an interesting account of being at sea aboard Olympic just after the Titanic disaster; further information about the attempts to attack and sink the ship during her war service; new details about her post-war refit and service in the 1920s; the voyage of Ivan Poderjay in 1933, a man suspected of murdering his wife and disposing of her body through a porthole; more information about the events that led to the Cunard and White Star merger and the cancellation of her cruise programme and schedule for 1935-36, which led to the ship’s retirement. New appendices include an explanation that there was an error in the maiden voyage crossing time reported in 1911, which led to the ship’s speed being understated; an analysis of the contribution first, second and third class made to revenues and profits; the recovery of her popularity after the Titanic disaster; a detailed chronology of the ship’s war service; a more detailed breakdown of passenger carryings over her career; new data comparing Olympic and her post-war running mates; a comparison tracking the fall from profit to loss in the early 1930s; and a detailed list of the ship’s commanders over her career. Altogether, the original book has been expanded from 320 pages with a 16-page colour section to 352 pages with a 16-page colour section, or a total increase from 336 to 368 pages.

When an article or book is published, its contents represent an understanding of those historical events at that particular moment in time. Historical discoveries are ongoing. Since the original book’s completion, I have had the pleasure of working with other researchers, and relatives of passengers or crew who generously shared information and photographs. This new edition of RMS Olympic: Titanic’s Sister takes advantage of the progress from the intervening decade and hopes to convey an even more accurate and complete picture of Olympic’s life and times, eighty years after she was withdrawn from service.
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Introduction

O lympic and Titanic began life as yard numbers 400 and 401 respectively, at Harland & Wolff in Belfast. Their original plans envisaged two ships that were practically identical, with Olympic’s keel laid three months ahead of her younger sister. They grew, together, until Olympic’s launch on 20 October 2010 and her sea trials at the end of May 1911. Titanic was launched on 31 May 1911, the same day Olympic left Belfast to begin her illustrious career spanning a quarter of a century. During construction, and over Olympic’s months of service in the summer of 1911 and early 1912, alterations and improvements were made to ensure Titanic was an even better vessel, but they remained largely identical. 

Many liners have been labelled the ‘first modern ocean liner’ or ‘the first floating palace’, but Olympic has a strong claim for making much of that progress. She was substantially larger than her nearest rival, Cunard’s Mauretania, and the increase in her tonnage alone was greater than the entirety of the largest vessel afloat less than a generation earlier. The range of facilities on offer was unrivalled when she entered service. First-class passengers enjoyed a gymnasium, swimming pool and Turkish bath establishment – facilities expanded after they had been tried on the White Star liner Adriatic – alongside an indoor squash court and reception room where people could meet prior to dinner. An à la carte restaurant, the first on a British liner, liberated passengers from the set hours of the dining saloon and gave them a greater choice of dishes. All these innovations became de rigueur on board the liners that followed, and were accompanied by the usual range of public rooms: veranda cafés, a smoke room, lounge and reading room. Although conservative in a number of ways – Olympic did not sport a double-height domed dining saloon or some of the soaring ceilings of public rooms on board some other vessels of the period – her interiors were impressive. The main first-class staircase, with its overhead dome and ornate clock (‘Honour and Glory, Crowning Time’), was perhaps one of the finest public spaces ever to go to sea. Her enormous size permitted vast expenses of deck and promenade space, while she carried fewer first-, second- and third-class passengers than she might have done, given her size. John Maxtone-Graham wrote that Olympic was the ‘last of the lean, yacht-like racers and the first “floating palace”’.

A fatal encounter with an iceberg during her maiden voyage ended Titanic’s career and the lives of two thirds of her passengers and crew. Today, Titanic is probably the most famous ship ever built; Olympic’s success has been less well recorded in history, even though she fulfilled her potential.

This volume is an attempt to go some way towards putting that right. 
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The Tale of Two Sisters:
Lusitania and Mauretania

The early years of the twentieth century were marked by the rapid progress being made by the various shipping companies in the highly competitive North Atlantic trade. Although traditionally a British-dominated trade, by the turn of the century the Germans had made great progress and were making a serious challenge to both major British shipping lines, Cunard and White Star. Following the introduction of the 10,000-ton Teutonic and Majestic in 1889 and 1890, however, White Star had adopted a policy of aiming above all for the finest vessels afloat in terms of comfort, luxury and facilities, while leaving the pursuit of speed to Cunard. The Hamburg Amerika Linie followed White Star’s lead several years later, which left the competition for speed to Cunard and their German rival Norddeutscher Lloyd. Such competition led to the introduction of Norddeutscher Lloyd’s quartet of superliners – Kaiser Wilhelm der Grosse (1897), Kronprinz Wilhelm (1901), Kaiser Wilhelm II (1903) and Kronprinzessin Cecilie (1906) – which captured the Blue Riband between 1897 and 1907 and gradually increased the speed from about 22.4 to 23.7 knots. In 1891 White Star’s Teutonic had wrested the prize for speed from the American Line’s City of Paris by reducing the westbound passage to 5 days 16 hours and 31 minutes at an average speed of some 20.5 knots, completing the eastbound passage in 5 days 21 hours and 3 minutes, but Cunard’s twin 12,950-ton Campania and Lucania of 1894 cut the times down to 5 days 7 hours and 23 minutes westbound and 5 days 8 hours and 38 minutes eastbound. Kaiser Wilhelm der Grosse crossed to New York in 5 days 20 hours at an average of 22.4 knots in 1897, but three years later the Hamburg Amerika Linie’s Deutschland took the prize. Several German liners held westbound and eastbound records during the next few years, and in 1906 Norddeutscher Lloyd’s Kaiser Wilhelm II crossed in 5 days 8 hours and 16 minutes at an even higher average speed of some 23.7 knots. By 1914 the two major German lines had clearly overtaken the British competition in terms of tonnage: Hamburg Amerika owned 194 ships with an average tonnage of 6,739 tons, making a total of 1,307,411 tons; Norddeutscher Lloyd owned 135 ships of 6,726 tons, for a total of 907,996 tons; White Star owned thirty-three vessels of an average 14,330 tons, totalling 472,877 tons; and Cunard owned the smallest number of vessels, twenty-nine ships with an average tonnage of 11,871 tons, bringing their total tonnage up to 344,251 tons.

White Star – legally known as the Oceanic Steam Navigation Company – had finished the nineteenth century on a high note with the Oceanic; a magnificent ship bearing the same name as the company’s first express vessel of 1871, which was the largest in the world and had earned the title: ‘Ship of the Century’. Although designed for a similar speed to Teutonic, the White Star Line’s Blue Riband holder, Oceanic would not be able to capture the Blue Riband as the German vessels had improved on the necessary speed; however, this is not to say that she was a slow vessel, as she was less than 2 knots slower than the speed required for the Blue Riband. With a length of 685ft between perpendiculars, a total length of 705ft, Oceanic was the first vessel to exceed the length of the ill-fated Great Eastern (1858), and being 68ft 6in in breadth, 49ft depth and with a usual draught of 32ft 6in; her gross tonnage was 17,274 tons. Grandiose plans were made for another running mate for the ship, although tragic circumstances would force the cancellation of this vessel.

On 1 January 1891 J. Bruce Ismay – usually known as Bruce Ismay – and James Ismay became partners in Ismay, Imrie & Co., essentially the managers of the Oceanic Steam Navigation Company; and their father, Thomas Henry Ismay, resigned from his managerial position but remained chairman, staying interested in the company.1 In fact, he had been very involved with the Oceanic project and had planned for her running mate to be named Olympic, but when Thomas Ismay died aged seventy-two on 23 November 1899 plans for the sister vessel were cancelled, and an even larger vessel, Celtic, was planned. Following his death, his two sons Bruce and James would manage the company with Thomas Ismay’s old colleagues, William Imrie and W.S. Graves.2
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The White Star liner Oceanic, depicted at sea on a souvenir log abstract issued in 1910. She was a popular vessel, carrying around 1,000 passengers on each crossing during her early years of service. (Author’s collection)
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Baltic, the third of the three sisters, had her own dedicated following. (Author’s collection)

Celtic would be the first of four large liners that came to be known as the ‘Big Four’ or ‘Celtic’ class, combining luxury, stability and comfort with economy of operation. Following the completion of the fourth liner, the class would together complete twenty-one years of profitable hard work, while the liners’ lives spanned thirty-three years, from 1901 to 1934. Their sizes ranged from Celtic’s 20,904grt to Adriatic’s 24,541grt. Adriatic (1907) had the first ever floating swimming pool and Turkish baths. Some 280 tons of coal per day were consumed by the boilers to drive the twin reciprocating engines for speeds of over 16 knots.3 With the completion of this class in 1907, the White Star Line’s express service to New York was well equipped with high-calibre vessels, as one reporter later noted:



The history of the line reads like a romance – one fortunately intimately associated with the progress and material prosperity of Belfast, where the whole of this noble fleet was built. The connection between the White Star Line and Messrs Harland & Wolff Limited dates back many years, and if, on the one hand, the company has obtained through that business intimacy the greatest ships in the world, on the other hand, the Lagan yard has gained prestige and fame from a policy that set at nought all previous conceptions regarding the size limit of vessels, and denied the pessimism of less far-sighted rivals … 

The Adriatic, Oceanic, Majestic and Teutonic are mail and passenger steamers engaged in the Southampton and Cherbourg–Queenstown–New York service, calling at Plymouth on the eastern passage. The Baltic, Cedric, Celtic and Arabic are on the Liverpool–Queenstown–New York route. Other splendid vessels sail to and from Boston and New York and the Mediterranean … 



Just prior to the completion of the Cedric, the White Star Line’s ownership had in fact changed, which would have a remarkable effect on the great company’s main rival, the Cunard Line. The Oceanic Steam Navigation Company Limited was itself a British-registered company with an all-paid-up capital of £750,000, controlled by three directors: Chairman J. Bruce Ismay; the Right Honourable Lord Pirrie, of Harland & Wolff; and Harold Sanderson. Following the change of ownership, eight shares were still held by Messrs E. Grenfell, Vivian Smith, W. Burns, James Gray, J. Bruce Ismay, Harold Sanderson, A. Kerr and Lord Pirrie, but the remainder were held from 1902 by the International Navigation Company Limited of Liverpool, which was also a British-registered company, with an all-paid-up capital of £700,000, controlled by four directors: chairman J. Bruce Ismay, Harold Sanderson, Charles Torrey and Henry Concanon. This company had controlling interests in a number of other shipping lines: the British and North Atlantic Steam Navigation Company Limited; the Mississippi and Dominion Steamship Company Limited; the Atlantic Transport Company Limited; and the Frederick Leyland Company Limited (the Leyland Line). Against these shareholdings, the International Navigation Company Limited had issued share lien certificates for an impressive £25,000,000; while the share and share lien certificates for the International Navigation Company Limited were owned by the International Mercantile Marine Company (IMM) of New Jersey, or ‘by trustees for the holders of its debenture bonds’. Thus, the complicated ownership structure of the White Star Line can be summed up as follows: Liverpool-based Ismay, Imrie & Co. were essentially the managers of the British Oceanic Steam Navigation Company, otherwise known as the White Star Line, which in turn was owned by the International Navigation Company Limited of Liverpool, that was owned by the American International Mercantile Marine Company (IMM) of New Jersey, one of American financier J.P. Morgan’s companies.

Morgan, a man of enormous wealth, saw an opportunity to reduce undue competition in the competitive North Atlantic trade, employ economies of scale and thereby generate considerable profits. By 1912 IMM owned 120 ships totalling 1,067,425 gross tons – approaching the size of Hamburg Amerika – with six more vessels under construction.4 However, the combine’s start had not been good in terms of its performance: merging the large number of lines into a streamlined organisation was not an easy task and initially some of the small lines had remained competing with each other on routes, directly in contradiction to IMM’s interests. J.P. Morgan realised that only J. Bruce Ismay was capable of improving IMM’s fortunes and, after some encouragement, in February 1904 Ismay became president of IMM, aged forty-four, remaining chairman of the White Star Line.5

Following IMM’s acquisition of the White Star Line, Cunard’s chairman, Lord Inverclyde, gained support from the British Government to change his company’s Articles of Association in order to prevent control by foreigners, but at the same time he had a radical proposal regarding a twenty-year low-interest £2,600,000 loan.6 If the Government were to grant the loan and an annual £150,000 subsidy, Cunard would construct two swift superliners to Admiralty specifications, re-establishing British Atlantic domination.7 Inverclyde’s proposal was appealing to the Government. Germany’s recent achievements had seen the loss of Britain’s long-term domination of the Atlantic, as Germany’s greatest shipping companies expanded, and the loss of the White Star Line to American J.P. Morgan was even more upsetting. The two proposed superliners would certainly be a good step to help restore the balance, while if they were constructed to Admiralty specifications and available in times of war, they would be a welcome addition to the Royal Navy, still the largest navy in the world. Parliament, led by Conservative Prime Minister Arthur Balfour’s Government, voted in favour of such a move.

Lusitania and Mauretania were launched a few months apart in 1906, entering service in September and November 1907 respectively. They soon proved themselves, as they engaged in a friendly rivalry to be the fastest liner in the world. Passenger carryings were strong and their grand passenger accommodation won numerous admirers, although Cunard did not opt to include the Turkish bath establishment, gym or ‘plunge’ pool, which Adriatic featured when she entered service a few months earlier.

Although both vessels were significantly larger than the Adriatic in gross tonnage, their actual weight (or displacement) was not much greater. Whereas the White Star liner’s propelling machinery needed to generate over 16,000 horsepower for a speed of about 16.5 knots, Cunard’s ships had engines that could produce more than four times as much power. The result was that their new liners had a top speed about 10 knots clear of Adriatic, making them the clear choice for passengers concerned with a speedy crossing. 

Lord Pirrie had become the controlling chairman of Harland & Wolff following Sir Edward Harland’s death in 1895 and Gustav Wolff’s retirement in 1906. He directed an extensive programme of modernisation and expansion of his shipyard’s facilities between 1906 and 1908 in order to meet future requirements of the White Star Line for new vessels to compete with Cunard and the German lines. These were undertaken on a costly and magnificent scale. A reporter noted:



They involved the laying out of two berths large enough for vessels of such length and weight, and the erection of a gantry which is undoubtedly the largest in the world. Thus there has been added to Belfast’s gigantic achievements a structure massive and towering, almost time-defying in its strength, and one of the sights which arrest the engrossed attention of the traveller who visits the city for the first time. On its original site there were four berths, spanned by three large gantries. One slip was left where it was and the two other gantries were lifted up bodily onto rails and transported sideways until they covered this slip, which now has the use of all three. This cleared the way for the new slips for the leviathans. First of all a bed sufficiently strong to take their enormous weight had to be constructed. For this purpose the ground was heavily piled and then a concrete floor reaching in places 4ft 6in thick was laid on, and around the piles in such a manner that the latter take the load. The floor is suitably inclined to ensure a steady launch. The gantry already referred to was designed by the firm, and constructed by Messrs Sir William Arrol & Co. Ltd, the electric cranes being supplied by Messrs Stothert & Pitt. The space covered is more than 850ft long by 270ft broad, while the height is 180ft. No fewer than twenty-three crane hooks are fitted, and the motors total something like 1,500 horsepower … These cranes support the hydraulic riveting machines … 
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Mauretania, depicted on a card postmarked 22 June 1909. As the sender noted, she increased her average speed to almost 26 knots. (Restored Digital File © Eric K. Longo, 2012)
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Harland & Wolff’s Queen’s Island works underwent significant modernisation before Olympic’s construction could begin. (Ioannis Georgiou collection)
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An early illustration of Olympic appeared in the New York Times in March 1908. Her length was exaggerated, although she was significantly longer than her Cunard rival, and the profile of a three-funnel vessel showed a superstructure more in keeping with the ‘Big Four’. (Digital restoration by James Samwell, © 2011/New York Times)

Much could be – and as a matter of fact has been – written eulogising the wonderful prescience and foresight of such men as the late Sir Edward Harland and T.H. Ismay. The former saw the commercial utility of building large ships, while the latter falling in with the idea played his part in their utilisation in the great march of Inter-Oceanic … intercourse.



During the summer of 1907, Mr and Mrs J. Bruce Ismay dined one evening with Lord and Lady Pirrie at their London home, Downshire House, Belgrave Square. Ismay’s biographer, Wilton J. Oldham, described what followed:



Ismay and his host, who both believed in the ‘big ship’ with great comfort and moderate speed, first discussed the Olympic and Titanic, which were to be followed by a third [ship] …*

After dinner was over, they drew up rough plans of the three sisters. They were to be the last word in comfort and elegance, and although fast, the key word was to be safety and comfort for the passengers, combined with economy of operation.9 



‘We would naturally try to get the best ship we possibly could,’ J. Bruce Ismay later said. ‘We wanted the best ship crossing the North Atlantic when we built her.’ He took quite an active role in the design of the new vessels.

In order to divert attention away from the Lusitania, one day before she arrived in New York after completing her maiden voyage, the first public press announcement was made regarding the new vessels and detailing the rough concept. It was reported that Harland & Wolff were working on a 1,000-foot design for ships ‘bigger than the Lusitania’. According to one source, the size would be in the region of 40,000 gross tons. Equipped with a possible combination of reciprocating and turbine engines, it was stated of the ship’s speed:



It is probable that her speed will be only 22 knots, the cost of every extra knot after 20 knots being so excessive that steamship companies are averse to such high speeds.



At the same time, there was a progress report in the New York Times of the Lusitania’s maiden voyage performance. She was not to perform as well as expected, failing to gain the Blue Riband. Her best day’s run so far had been 575 miles at an average of some 23.2 knots. Many were hoping that the ship could increase her speed to the estimated maximum of 25–26 knots.

Sure enough, Lusitania did better as she settled in and fulfilled the hopes invested in her. Several months later, in March 1908, J. Bruce Ismay made some comments to the New York Times about his own company’s plans. The paper quoted him speaking of two ships 1,000ft long, although the figure had no basis in reality. ‘This is the first time in its history that the White Star Line has been able to enter the field of ship construction without a handicap. Hitherto we have been restricted by the limitations of our former home terminal – that of Liverpool,’ Ismay noted, ‘… but now we have moved our terminal to Southampton, that restriction no longer exists, and so, for the first time, we are able to enter the field without any handicap of this nature, Southampton being a spacious harbour and its waters so wide and deep …’ He did not want to comment on the specific plans, beyond saying that the new ships’ accommodation would ‘be far ahead of anything that has yet been projected’.

The newspaper pondered, ‘Will these roomy new leviathans have trolleys or moving sidewalks to carry passengers up and down their far-reaching decks? Will they have theatres and shopping arcades? When the bow reaches port will it be necessary to telephone the fact to the other end?’ With an imaginative flair, the reporter noted, ‘If the rate of increase in steamship dimensions should be maintained for the next hundred years at the same ratio that they increased from 1807 to 1907 the ship launched at the end of the next century would have a speed of 6,527 knots a day, and would be able to cross from New York to England in about thirteen hours.’ It would be ‘nearly a mile’ long with accommodation for 33,000 passengers, but that was far in the future.10

Further information about the ‘new White Star ship project’ appeared on 16 April 1908, albeit with inaccuracies:



Olympic, 1,000-foot Liner.

White Star Line selects name for its leviathan – may build sister ship.

Liverpool, 16 April – The new 1,000-foot steamship, the construction of which is to be commenced later in the year for the White Star Line, will be named Olympic.

Harland & Wolff will build it and it will be designed expressly for the Southampton to New York trade.

It is possible that the White Star Line will decide to order two boats of this class instead of one.



Away from inaccurate press reports, Harland & Wolff were busy with the reality of designing the largest vessels that had yet been built. Lord Pirrie was involved in the practical design of the new ships, insofar as he considered their general dimensions and overall profile; general manager Alexander Carlisle was charged with ‘the details, the decorations, the equipments and the general arrangement’; Thomas Andrews was heavily involved in drawing up the plans and assumed Carlisle’s duties following his retirement on 30 June 1910; and Edward Wilding, Andrews’ deputy, worked in detail on the scientific side, dealing with questions such as the necessary strength and watertight subdivision.

Pirrie’s original three-funnelled concept was changed to a four-funnelled design, enhancing the fine lines of the ship and matching the four-funnelled Cunard and German vessels, which were equated with speed, size, strength and luxury. The initial design concept presented to the White Star Line directors on 29 July 1908 was labelled:



General Arrangement

S.S. No. 400

850ft x 92ft x 64ft 6in

Design ‘D’.11



It showed accommodation for 3,104 passengers – 600 in first class, 716 in second class and 1,788 in third class – and lavish accommodation. The first-class lounge, smoking room and dining saloon were all crowned by magnificent glass domes; there was a Veranda Café and a reading and writing room, extensive promenade areas and rather plain-looking stairwells. There were 598 seats in the first-class dining saloon, 580 in second class and 594 seats in third class. Servicing first class were two elevators, while an enormous swimming pool, gymnasium and Turkish bath area, the same size as the first-class dining saloon, was included.12 Many features would be modified or altered, but the basic design would remain roughly the same.

On 31 July 1908, the White Star Line signed a letter of agreement for construction to proceed. The shipbuilder would employ their usual ‘cost plus’ arrangement, whereby they would request payment for the materials and all related construction costs, before adding an additional percentage commission. The arrangement reflected the close relationship between the owner and builder, ensuring that the shipbuilder would make a profit. While there was undoubtedly an understanding that the builder would not spend excessively, there was no incentive for them to employ anything but the finest materials their design required.

In fact, the project involved a remarkable financial ambition. By September 1908, White Star’s fleet had expanded to twenty-three ships, with a gross tonnage of 311,403. They were valued at £4,850,000 but, by the time Olympic, Titanic and their third sister ship had been completed, the company would have spent more constructing them than the entire value of the existing fleet. Contrary to popular belief, neither J.P. Morgan nor IMM financed construction. The White Star Line borrowed an initial £1,250,000 in October 1908 and another £1,500,000 in July 1914, paying an interest rate of 4½ per cent and with the fleet as security. As the money was being borrowed commercially rather than with favourable government support, the interest rate was almost two-thirds greater than what Cunard were paying on the loan they had taken out for Lusitania and Mauretania, and the White Star ships would have to pay their way without an annual subsidy. However, White Star saw it as a necessary investment in their future. During the preceding ten years, White Star’s total net profit – £6,175,852 – added up to almost double that of Cunard. Profits were more than 50 per cent greater in 1907, and the company’s management intended to retain – and expand – their advantage.
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A cutaway view of Olympic, intended to demonstrate her many decks, included views of the swimming pool, squash racquet court and gymnasium. The dome over the first-class dining saloon is not shown in this view published in June 1909. Originally intended to be on the same level as the swimming pool, as with Adriatic’s arrangement, the ship’s gymnasium was relocated subsequently from the port side of F-deck to the starboard side of the boat deck. Many other changes took place between the approval of the ‘Design “D”’ proposal in July 1908 and the ship’s completion, and it is interesting to note the lifeboat davits depicted on the boat deck. (Scientific American, 1909/Author’s collection)


Notes


* Although it is popularly believed that the two men first discussed their new ships in the summer of 1907, as Oldham reported, in fact the order for the first two was first recorded by Harland & Wolff on 30 April 1907. If the dinner took place the following summer, it was a discussion of something that was already being planned. (Perhaps, years later, Mrs. Ismay remembered the year as 1907 instead of 1906 when she assisted Wilton J. Oldham? See Gunter Bäbler’s article ‘The Dinner at Lord Pirrie’s in Summer 1907: Just a Legend?’ in Titanic Post, Swiss Titanic Society, 2000 for a more detailed discussion.)
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A New Dawn

Construction of the ship initially labelled as ‘Yard Number 400 TSS Olympic, Harland & Wolff Limited, Queen’s Island Belfast’ began with the laying of her keel on 16 December 1908, as the shipyard’s 400th commission. It marked a new era in shipbuilding and marine engineering, for her sister vessel – ‘Yard Number 401 TSS Titanic’ – would be constructed by her side as she grew. Two such large vessels had never been constructed, let alone side-by-side, in the same shipyard at the same time. Of Harland & Wolff’s 14,000-strong workforce in 1911, between 3,000 and 4,000 men worked on the Olympic.1 Despite her unprecedented size, however, she would be constructed using traditional materials and methods, but in suitable quantities for such a great vessel.

The keel served as the ship’s ‘backbone’, located on the vessel’s centreline in the cellular double bottom. Mostly 5ft 3in deep, the double bottom’s depth was increased to 6ft 3in underneath the location of the main engine room and strengthened in that area to cope with the movement, and to a lesser extent, weight of the engines, being – unusually – carried up to the turn of the bilge for about half of the ship’s length. Divided into four transverse compartments, the double bottom had a total of forty-four watertight compartments, which were used for storing drinking and boiler water; any list taken by the ship could hopefully be corrected by the water distribution. In addition, if the ship ran aground the double bottom would hopefully prevent water entering the main body of the liner’s hull. Barely three months after construction began, on 10 March 1909, the double bottom was all bolted up and hydraulic riveting was well advanced. As an indication of the great number of rivets needed in the vessel, 500,000 rivets – weighing 270 tons – were used in the construction of the double bottom alone.2 By the use of hydraulic riveting throughout nearly the whole of the double bottom, including the bottom shell plating up to the turn of the bilge, maximum strength was ensured, as hydraulic riveting was considered the strongest method then available. The sheer of the bilge was not considered great in Olympic, the hull maintaining a more pencil-box shape, which gained the advantage of the ship being more resistant to rolling in a seaway. By contrast, the Mauretania’s bilge sheer was somewhat greater and she had earned a reputation of giving sometimes mischievous pitches and rolls. As a further method of preventing excessive rolling and improving the ship’s stability, two bilge keels 25in deep were installed for a length of 295ft along the bilge amidships on each side of the vessel.

The task of choosing Olympic’s propelling machinery would not be completed definitively until several months after construction began. While the piston-based quadruple-expansion reciprocating engines had been successful on previous liners such as Oceanic and the ‘Big Four’, on the other hand turbines had been a considerable success for Lusitania and Mauretania. As early as September 1907, suggestions had appeared publicly that the new liner would incorporate a combination model of reciprocating engines and a low pressure turbine. In March 1908, J. Bruce Ismay was reported as saying that this would be the case, and the design concept approved in July 1908 also depicted the combination. Harland & Wolff were reasonably confident of the advantages. By employing two triple-expansion reciprocating engines driving the two outer propellers, the steam exhausted into the low pressure turbine engine would enable it to drive a centre propeller. In effect, the low pressure turbine was the fourth stage of expansion, because it was able to make use of steam at a pressure lower than the reciprocating engines could make use of. However, it was not until two ships ordered for the Canadian service (which became Laurentic and Megantic) were completed that the results of a combination could be seen in practice.

They were largely identical sisters, with Laurentic employing the combination machinery to drive her three propellers and her sister the conventional reciprocating engines driving two propellers. Laurentic’s performance proved superior to her sister and, having demonstrated the concept on a smaller scale, the combination machinery could be used on a much larger scale for Olympic and her sister. The shipyard and engine works had been ordered to proceed with Olympic and Titanic ‘except with machinery’ on 17 September 1908; the engine works were told to proceed ‘with boilers’ on 26 February 1909; and instructions were issued to go ahead ‘with [the] remainder of machinery’ for Olympic on 20 April 1909: a mere five days after Laurentic had been delivered. An effective merger between Harland & Wolff and John Brown & Co., Clydebank, enabled the Belfast shipbuilder to gain access to the necessary technology, and work on the low pressure turbines would be subcontracted to Clydebank.

Constructed by the Darlington Forge Company, the liner’s stern frame weighed 70 tons, the two side-propeller brackets 731⁄4 tons and the two forward-propeller boss arms 45 tons, with a central aperture in the stern frame housing the central propeller. Mild cast steel was used for the stern frame, which was constructed in two pieces, connected using the finest Lowmoor iron rivets 2in in diameter and with a total weight of more than a ton. By the end of August 1909, the stern frame had been fitted to the ship; the fitting of the propeller brackets and boss arms followed. Manufactured by the same company, the vessel’s rudder was built of five sections of solid cast steel, coupled together with large bolts; it weighed 1011⁄4 tons, was 78ft 8in high and 15ft 3in wide. Of special interest, the rudder’s top section was forged from special ingot steel ‘of the same quality as naval gun jackets’.
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Plans depicting Olympic and Titanic were printed in The Shipbuilder in 1911. Subsequent changes to both ships soon rendered them out of date. An inboard profile, showing the ship’s side and basic interior layout, is displayed above along with deck plans of the boat and promenade deck, A. Below, the deck plans show the bridge deck, B; shelter deck, C; saloon deck, D; upper deck, E; middle deck, F; lower deck, G; orlop deck, lower orlop deck; and tank top. (J & C McCutcheon collection)

At the opposite end of the ship, the stem was of rolled steel with a cast-steel forefoot which connected the stem solidly to the keel plate and bar. Provided at the top was a hawse pipe, through which a steel-wire hawser could be passed that held the central anchor; the central bower anchor weighed an impressive 15H tons, while the port and starboard anchors were to be roughly 8 tons each in weight, the cables needing to be a little over 3in in diameter and 330 fathoms long. However, while the central anchor was housed forward on the ship’s deck and the side anchors at the side in the hull plating, an anchor to my knowledge was never housed on the stem itself.

Olympic’s hull overall had a length of fractionally under 900ft, being 882ft 9in long from the foreside of the stem to the farthest end of the poop deck. However, as she was constructed with a traditional counter stern, whereby the poop and other decks were continued beyond the stern post, forming an elegant overhang, her ‘length between perpendiculars’ as it was called was somewhat less than her overall length. Indeed, her length between perpendiculars was 852ft 6in, measured from the foreside of the stem to the after side of the stern post; in a very technical measurement, her ‘length at quarter depth from the top of weather deck to the bottom of keel’ was 849ft 2in. On the ship’s plans the length between perpendiculars, measured from the after side of the stern post to where the stem met the upper deck, was shown as exactly 850ft 11⁄2in, whereas on most other ship plans this was measured from the aft stern frame to the forward load waterline. The hull itself had a maximum breadth amidships of 92ft 6in, although the higher portions of the superstructure, that is, deck A and above, had a width of 94ft in order to achieve more space.

Framing of the main body of the hull followed after the construction of the double bottom; Olympic’s hull frames numbered 305, extending 66ft above the level of the bilge to the bridge deck and spaced an impressive average of only 2ft 91⁄2in apart. Unlike on some vessels, where the frames were numbered from bow to stern, Olympic’s were numbered from amidships; frames were numbered from ‘1 to 148 aft’ and ‘1 to 157 forward’. Generally, the frames were spaced 36in apart amidships, gradually narrowing in steps to 24in at the bow and 27in at the stern. This way additional strength was achieved in these areas where it was needed, more than compensating for the narrow hull plating at bow and stern. The vessel’s frames were spaced thus:







	Frames

	Spacing





	157 to 134 forward    

	24in





	134 to 119 forward

	27in





	119 to 107 forward

	30in





	107 to 95 forward

	33in





	95 to 0 forward

	36in





	0 to 111 aft

	36in





	111 to 121 aft

	33in





	121 to 133 aft

	30in





	133 to 148 aft

	27in









Describing the frames, one newspaper stated, ‘They are of channel section, 10in deep amidships, and of angle and reverse bars at the ends. At frequent intervals there are heavy web frames. Increased strength is ensured at the machinery spaces by the web-frames being placed at closer intervals. Specially heavy bracket plates connect the frames with the wing brackets.’

‘As framing proceeded the transverse beams were fitted in place on each deck level,’ one technical report stated at the time. ‘These beams are made of channels 10in deep, up to the lower deck, and of smaller section above this: all are placed, of course, to suit the spacing of the frames, to which they are connected by efficient brackets. There are four longitudinal girders in the width of the hull extending for the whole length of the ship. These are built up of plates with deep angles at top and bottom … This general description of the structure indicates the great strength of the hull, the aim being to ensure the maximum of stiffness in a heavy seaway.’ Framing of the hull was finished by 20 November 1909.

On 6 November 1909, the Southampton Times outlined the vision of Olympic’s hull, growing into an enormous entity:



As the structure rises, one cannot fail to be impressed with the wonderful effect achieved by the manipulation of the various materials in the hands of the constructors of what is already a mighty fabric in the making.



It is clear that Southampton as well as Belfast was proudly awaiting the new liner’s launching and completion, and in a patriotic fashion the reporter waxed lyrical:



The genius of man has created out of ordinary materials a powerful instrument of progress and development. In many ways the ship is the greatest of all national assets, for in a world consisting of about three-fourths water and one-fourth land, it is probable that the greatest nation will always be the one whose command of the sea and whose maritime interests are the most extensive.



Siemens-Martin steel was used throughout the ship’s shell plating and upper works. It had been used on the previous generation of express liners, Teutonic and Majestic, whose hulls remained in excellent condition. Considered ‘battleship quality’, it was a high-quality steel ideal for conventional hand-driven and hydraulic riveting.3 Although it was not the practice of the White Star Line to have their ships classed by Lloyd’s, the steel employed was tested to the classification society’s satisfaction. Throughout most of the hull, the outer shell plating consisted of plates 30ft long and 6ft wide. It was an inch thick amidships, narrowing towards the bow and stern where the hull frames were spaced closer together. Where necessary, the hull plating was doubled along the turn of the bilge and the side of the uppermost decks (the sheer strake) amidships – in some locations the structure was several inches thick – and the plating that formed the deck itself was also thickened. Generally speaking, it was the central three-fifths of the hull that would be subjected to the highest stresses, and by massing material throughout these areas the hull was imbued with ample strength. As well as doubling the plating, hydraulic riveting was also used amidships to a greater extent than on previous vessels, to further increase the ship’s strength. While it could be employed amidships, where the plating was straight and easily accessible, towards the narrower, angled confines of the bow and stern hand riveters were employed.
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In June 1909, the Scientific American sought to demonstrate Olympic’s great size by comparing her to earlier ships. (Scientific American, 1909/Author’s collection)

On top of the hull itself sat the superstructure, consisting of the deckhouses on B, A and the boat decks. While it was strong enough to withstand the hostile North Atlantic, the superstructure did not contribute any strength to the ship. It simply sat atop of the structural hull and was largely independent of it. As a result, it was divided into three sections by two expansion joints – essentially gaps in the superstructure – which enabled it to flex in a seaway. They protected the superstructure from forces which it, unlike the structural hull, was not designed or intended to endure. The hull itself was entirely plated by 15 April 1910.

Dividing the machinery spaces and cargo holds situated underneath the ship’s accommodation areas were watertight bulkheads that also separated the main body of the hull into distinct compartments; the stiffeners of the bulkheads were 50 per cent beyond Lloyd’s requirements in terms of their strength, being ‘considerably in excess’ of Edward Harland’s 1891 bulkhead committee’s recommendation, while the plating was between 10 and 20 per cent thicker than Lloyd’s requirements. The design of the ship’s watertight subdivision was such that it enabled her to remain afloat and stable with any two watertight compartments flooded: even the two largest. It is not widely appreciated that she would also remain afloat with any three compartments flooded, with a few exceptions; and, in some scenarios, with even more – such as the first four compartments from the bow. Harland & Wolff did not employ longitudinal watertight bulkheads (extending along the length of the ship), or watertight decks, and for good reason. The shipbuilder was concerned that longitudinal watertight bulkheads could cause a ship to list severely, because they would contain the flooding to one side of the ship; similarly, the danger with watertight decks was that if flooding occurred above them, leaving air pockets below, it would wreak havoc with the ship’s stability. What might be useful in one situation might prove fatal in another. (In fact, longitudinal bulkheads employed on Teutonic and Majestic were subsequently pierced because they came to be regarded as dangerous.) By employing transverse bulkheads, running across the ship from one side to the other, these dangers were avoided, while giving what seemed to be an ample margin of safety. The design was so sound in this regard that it met or exceeded standards in force more than a century later.

In order for Olympic to achieve a service speed of 21 knots it was necessary for her engines to develop 46,000hp, but additional power was provided to ensure that she could maintain this speed through the bad weather conditions frequently found on the Atlantic.

Inside the largest engine room that had then been built into a ship, two four-storey-high four-crankshaft triple-expansion reciprocating engines were housed. Each with a high-pressure 54in-diameter cylinder, low-pressure 97in cylinder, intermediate 84in cylinder and a fourth 97in cylinder, the engines took steam from the boilers at a pressure of 215psi. While running at 75rpm it was expected that each engine would develop some 15,000hp.

Situated aft of the main engine room was the turbine engine room, which housed a low-pressure 420-ton Parsons’ turbine, taking the exhaust steam from the main engines at a pressure of 9psi. While the main engines were running at 75rpm, the turbine would run at 165rpm, indicating some 16,000hp.

Developing sufficient steam for the engines was no easy task. Twenty-four 15ft 9in diameter double-ended boilers 20ft in length were provided and five single-ended 11ft 9in boilers. Housed in six boiler rooms with a total length of 264ft, the five single-ended auxiliary boilers were housed immediately forward of the main engine room in boiler room 1, boiler rooms 2 to 5 housing five double-ended boilers each and boiler room 6 only housing four double-ended boilers because the hull began to narrow at that point towards the bow. The total heating surface came to an amazing 144, 142sq.ft, 159 furnaces being provided, six per double-ended boiler and three per single-ended boiler. All twenty-four ‘main’ double-ended boilers could provide ample steam for the service speed on their own, without even using the auxiliary boilers.

Fitted on each side of the watertight bulkheads that separated the vessel’s boiler rooms were transverse coal bunkers 30ft in height, ‘conceived with a view to minimising the amount of handling of the coal for each boiler’. As the bunkers were arranged on each side of the watertight bulkheads, coal was available practically from the bunker doors next to the boilers. Another advantage was that the ship could be coaled from either side of the pier.

It is incredible that the propellers themselves had a total weight of 98 tons, the wing propellers weighing 38 tons each and the central turbine-driven propeller 22 tons. The wing propellers were 23ft 6in in diameter, with three bronze blades bolted to a steel bossing; and the central propeller was 16ft 6in diameter, having four blades and entirely moulded in manganese bronze. Fittingly, the wing propellers remain the largest ever fitted on any liner, driven by the largest reciprocating steam engines ever constructed. Propellers, engines and boilers would all be installed on the ship following the launching, which by April 1910 – when the hull plating was complete – was set to take place six months later.

It was intended that Olympic would be able to maintain ‘an average service speed of 21 knots’ in all weather conditions, with plenty of power in reserve enabling her to overcome any delays encountered on the crossing. In normal service, the reciprocating engines (running at 75rpm) and the turbine engine (running at 165rpm) produced around 46,000hp; according to the ship’s registration documents, the engines were registered at 50,000hp; and Harland & Wolff’s Edward Wilding confirmed that the machinery could generate over 55,000hp. In fact, with the main engines running at full speed (about 83rpm) and the turbine at a correspondingly higher pace (about 190rpm), they produced around 59,000hp. Each reciprocating engine on its own could generate as much power as Adriatic’s two engines; Olympic’s propelling machinery was so powerful that it could generate as much power as the engines of all of the ‘Big Four’ combined. Even though the White Star Line were not building the fastest vessels afloat, the power required was, nonetheless, enormous compared to any of their previous ships.


[image: images]

On 18 November 1909, a photographer captured a view of Olympic (on the right) with framing nearly completed, and work proceeding on her sister Titanic (left). The last of Olympic’s hull frames was lifted into position two days later, ‘so that the framing of this enormous ship took just eleven months and five days’. (The Engineer, 1909/Author’s collection)

In a practical manner, various telegraphed orders indicated certain speeds. An order to the engine room for ‘slow ahead’ would request the main engines to run at 30rpm without the turbine in operation; ‘half speed’ would require 50rpm with the turbine operating at 100rpm, and ‘full speed’ would normally need 75rpm for the main engines and 165rpm for the turbine engine, although this depended on the number of boilers in operation and the pressure they were operating at, in addition to how far the engine room ‘stop valve’ was open – this valve controlled the flow of steam from the boilers to the engine room.

Generating sufficient electricity for such a large vessel was a task on a grandiose scale. For this purpose, four 400kW engines and dynamos were installed in the ‘electric engine room’ immediately aft of the turbine engine room. Each indicating about 580hp, the engines ran at 325rpm and took steam at a pressure of 185psi; the engines were each direct-coupled to a continuous current dynamo with an output of 100V and 4,000A, delivering a total output of some 16,000A. As was noted at the time, the supply was more than sufficient for a large-sized city on land. Auxiliary generators were available in the event of the main compartment being flooded:



… there are two 30kW engines and dynamos, placed in a recess of the turbine room at saloon deck D level. Three sets can be supplied with steam from either of several boiler rooms and will be available for emergency purposes. They are of a similar description to the main sets, but the engines of the two-crankshaft type.



These dynamos took steam from boiler rooms 5, 3 and 2 in case several of the boiler rooms were flooded. Comprehensive use of electricity was one marked feature of Olympic: there were 10,000 lights in the ship, the most extensive and complete system of electric lighting yet to go to sea; and extensive electrically driven fans for the boiler and engine rooms, combined with electric fans that worked the most comprehensive mechanical ventilation system yet fitted to a ship.

It is interesting to note the precautions taken to preserve the power supply in the event of an emergency such as a collision followed by flooding. An emergency circuit connected to the auxiliary dynamos was fitted in all parts of the ship, powering more than 500 lamps throughout the passenger, crew and machinery areas, arranged with a view to making it easy to reach the boat deck. The Marconi wireless equipment was connected to this circuit; as were some electrically driven lifeboat winches, mast lights, seven cargo and gangway lanterns, and ‘all the lights on the bridge including those for captain’s, navigating and chart rooms, wheelhouse, telegraphs and Morse signalling lanterns’.

Telephones were used extensively in the ship, as good communication was a necessity in such a large vessel. These were operated through the ship’s lighting circuit, or a stand-by battery that could be activated if the main electricity supply failed. Many pantries were connected by telephone, as were many chief official and service rooms in the ship through a fifty-line switchboard on C-deck. The wheelhouse, for example, was connected to the forecastle deck by telephone, and the crow’s nest lookout station, engine room, poop deck, chief engineer’s cabin and the various boiler rooms.

Olympic and her sister would be fitted with the latest type of double-acting Welin davits. Each set was capable of handling up to four lifeboats, giving a potential maximum of sixty-four lifeboats. At the time of construction, the British Board of Trade’s regulations governing lifeboat requirements had not been updated since 1894. They were based upon the principle that all ships exceeding 10,000grt had to carry sixteen lifeboats under davits. Unfortunately, as ships exceeding 45,000grt were being built the regulations were outdated. Nor was gross tonnage a reliable guide to the number of people on board a ship in any case: some smaller liners, carrying a much larger number of third-class passengers who were allocated less space per passenger, had a much greater number of passengers and crew than Olympic. The subject had come to the attention of the Board of Trade, who were examining the question of revising the regulations. Anticipating that this might be the case, the use of Welin davits would enable Olympic’s lifeboat capacity to be upgraded in the future if the regulations were to require it. While the Board of Trade believed that she would be fitted with thirty-two lifeboats in March 1910, a plan submitted for approval at the end of June 1910 showed sixteen lifeboats installed, and the final number would be only marginally higher with the later addition of four ‘collapsible’ boats.

Considering the view of the time of lifeboats as an ‘additional’ guarantee of safety, the standards and behaviour seem quite understandable. The famous sinking of the White Star liner Republic in 1909 appeared to prove that modern liners were strong enough to withstand significant damage and flooding for long enough for other vessels to arrive on the scene, summoned by wireless. Olympic’s size compared favourably with the Republic’s tonnage, and the new ship was more than three times the length of that liner. It seemed inconceivable that such large liners, designed with all the latest safety features, would be capable of sinking in a few hours. Furthermore, lifeboats did much to damage liners’ competitiveness, in that they used up valuable deck space that could be used as a promenade for fare-paying passengers, not to mention the fact that having so many lifeboats on the upper decks of a ship might contribute to making the ship top heavy. Despite this general consensus, however, there was significant talk of the Board of Trade regulations being changed, and in March 1912, Naval Architect Mr A. Welin penned a paper for the Institution of Naval Architects,4 opining, ‘The advent of passenger-carrying vessels of immense size has brought the authorities in most maritime countries to realise the necessity for revising the existing rules … New regulations have been formulated, and further important changes may be expected in the near future.’

He went on to refer to Olympic’s arrangement specifically:



In the case of the White Star liners Olympic and Titanic this double-acting type of davit was fitted throughout to make it possible to double, or even treble, the number of boats, should such an increase ultimately prove to be necessary.



Only twenty lifeboats would be fitted to the two liners after Carlisle’s June 1910 retirement. Fourteen wooden lifeboats of the ‘standard type’ were built, 30ft long by 9ft 1in breadth and 4ft in depth. These had a capacity of 655.2 cubic feet and were constructed to carry sixty-five people each, although in terms of weight they could carry quite a lot more. Two wooden ‘emergency’ cutters were to be fitted either side of the navigating bridge, and kept swung-out permanently to be used in cases such as somebody falling overboard. The cutters were not identical: both were 25ft 2in long and 3ft in depth, but the breadths were 7ft 1in and 7ft 2in; these had a cubic capacity of 322.1 and 326.6ft and were constructed to hold forty people. Four Englehardt ‘collapsible’ boats were 27ft 5in in length, 8ft in breadth and 3ft depth; the cubic capacities were 376.6ft and these boats could carry forty-seven people.

There were two ‘groups’ of lifeboats on the boat deck, four sets of davits with four standard wooden boats aft on each side, then an open space of nearly 200ft and four sets of davits forward with three wooden boats and an emergency ‘cutter’ on the first davit set. All four collapsibles were carried at this end of the deck.

While construction continued on the new liner, however, problems of a serious nature were worrying the White Star Line’s management: the lack of dry docking facilities at Southampton for such a great vessel, the inadequate berthing facilities at New York and also the depth of the river Test at Southampton.

Southampton’s port facilities were under a programme of continuous expansion. During January 1900, the London & South Western Railway (LSWR) awarded the contract for Southampton’s sixth dry dock to J. Aird. Extensive excavations were seen and the 875 x 90 x 33ft dock, known as the Trafalgar Dock, was opened in 1905.5 With the White Star Line’s forthcoming ‘Olympic’ class of liners planned for the express service from Southampton, it became obvious that yet another dry dock and berths were required. The LSWR found that it would be best to extend the existing Trafalgar Dock: accordingly, in October 1910 Topham Jones & Railton began excavation to enlarge the dock to 897ft long and to increase its depth and width; this was completed in the spring of 1913.6 For the meantime, there was a large enough dock completed at Belfast: it was named the Thompson Graving Dock in 1915.7

The LSWR awarded the £492,231 contract for the new wet dock berthing in October 1907 to Topham Jones & Railton. This came to be known as the ‘White Star Dock’, but the facility was renamed in 1922 as the ‘Ocean Dock’.8 To cover sixteen acres, the new dock was planned to consist of 3,806ft of quay over a 400ft width with a depth of about 40ft at low tide and a 53ft depth at high tide.9 Berths were numbered 43, 44, 46 and 47; these were flanked by four large cargo and passenger sheds, with lavatories and waiting rooms, one storey in height, but with passenger gantries that had a height of a good two storeys.10
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Olympic’s upper decks, seen weeks prior to her launch. At the forward end of the boat deck, a gap is visible in the middle of the curved bulwark, where the bridge will be constructed; beneath, the fore end of A and B-decks is still being painted. At the bottom left, four donkey boilers in the fore well deck provided a temporary steam supply. To the right, the foundation and post for the port-side electric baggage crane are visible, but the crane is not installed. (Ioannis Georgiou/Mark Chirnside/Daniel Klistorner/J. Kent Layton collection)

Meanwhile, Southampton’s Harbour Board controlled the inadequately deep River Test, which White Star made efforts to deepen, but little progress was made until 1910.11 On 6 January 1910, General Manager Harold Sanderson, Assistant Local Manager Philip Curry, Marine Superintendent Ben Steel, Captain Haddock of Oceanic and Pilot George Bowyer formed an official deputation to the Harbour Board. This initially failed, but the LSWR eventually granted a loan of the necessary funds to complete the dredging.12 At New York, an IMM special appeal in Washington succeeded in obtaining permission for the piers to be lengthened and deepened.13

Throughout the summer and early autumn of 1910 preparations were made for the ship’s launching, set for 20 October 1910. Part of the preparations involved ordering from suppliers many of the fixtures, fittings and materials that were to be used on board the ship following the launching in order to make her the most luxurious afloat. Summing up the atmosphere of the time, one periodical stated that the launch ‘transcended in interest’ every other event that occurred that year throughout the shipping world.

‘The advent of these Leviathans of the Atlantic coincides very appropriately with the most important development of modern times,’ the White Star Line later naively assured the public, ‘… the movement of the British and American people towards the ideal of international and universal peace.’ White Star’s publicity department was going into overdrive to display the company’s pride in the Olympic and upcoming Titanic, who stood ‘for the pre-eminence of the Anglo-Saxon race on the Ocean’.

‘No effort was spared to ensure the success of the launch and to facilitate the builders in their subsequent work on the vessel while she is being made ready for sea,’ it was reported. It was considered so urgent that everything should be in order for the launch that the workers engaged in dredging operations would even work through Saturday afternoons and Sundays. ‘The trench in front of [the] Victoria Wharf, along the line of the launch, had to be dredged to a depth of 50ft at high water spring tides, and Messrs Harland & Wolff undertook to strengthen the structure of the wharf which was originally only designed for a depth of … 15ft below ordinary low water level … This work caused no little anxiety, and the expenditure of considerable labour. The strengthening of the structure was effected by driving two close rows of sheeting piles along the entire length of the wharf and … a row at the back for the purpose of connecting the front piles to the others by means of heavy tension rods of iron … The dredging of the trench along the line of the launch way has been successfully accomplished …’ One other necessary improvement was a new road built to connect the wharf with Queen’s Road; a tramway was also constructed to carry loads of 150 tons. Numerous electric lamps were provided to light the road, tramway and quay.

All was set for the birth of the greatest vessel the world had yet seen, produced by the Empire that led the world.
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‘Queen of the Seas’

Thursday 20 October 1910 dawned ‘fairly bright’, but with quite a strong northerly wind, which fortunately ceased before the launching. ‘Conditions could not have been more fortunate’ from then on. ‘The sun shone with a warmth and power reminiscent of spring; indeed there was a vernal breath in the atmosphere such as often characterises Indian summer on the other side of the “pond” above the forty-ninth parallel’, the Belfast News Letter recorded. British newspapers proclaimed the day as wonderful. ‘Except for the unusual quiet of the vast Queen’s Island yard and the numbers of well-dressed people sauntering towards a given point, there was really nothing to give a stranger an impression that a world event was about to occur,’ opined the Daily Mail’s reporter.

From an early hour, trams going to Queen’s Island were crowded. ‘The scene at the yard was one of great interest and anticipation.’ Stands had been constructed for the department heads, their friends, guests, pressmen and the builders, and White Star Line representatives. As was his usual custom, Lord Pirrie was at the yard early, sporting his nautical yachting cap. Meanwhile, the Queen’s Road was busy, overflowing with automobiles, carts and pedestrians. Even before 10.00 am, ‘admiring crowds were gazing with awe at the leviathan which reared her gigantic hull far above their heads’.

In reports on the following day, the Daily Mail’s observer noted what he had seen during the hour before the launching:



Beneath the great ship swarmed, as usual, some hundreds of busy labourers removing the last supports of the gigantic structure above their heads. Round about were quietly collecting a fairly large number of visitors, and the general stand for guests was well filled … 



Numerous dignitaries would be in attendance: from Miss Asquith, the Prime Minister’s daughter, to Lord and Lady Aberdeen, the Lord Mayor and Lady Mayoress of Belfast, etc. Some had boarded a special train from Dublin, reaching the Great Northern Railway terminal in Great Victoria Street at 10.05 am, to journey to the shipyard with the Lord Mayor’s carriages. Lord Pirrie then gave them a tour of the shipyard, before they were seated in the white and crimson cloth-draped stand. Lady Aberdeen ‘was calmly “snapshotting” from the owner’s stand’, wrote one observer, ‘Oh, it was the most ordinary occasion imaginable!’
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Harland & Wolff were proud of the world’s greatest gantry, and the two largest ships in the world being built beneath it. Leading up to her launch, Olympic’s very light grey painted hull (right) made her appear more prominent than her sister Titanic (left). (Author’s collection)

White Star had chartered the Fleetwood, Lancashire, steamer Duke of Cumberland to bring to the launching over 100 pressmen from England, America and the Continent, not to mention the numerous executives, among them: Messrs Joseph Bruce Ismay; Harold Sanderson; E.C. Grenfell; J.W. Scott; P.E. Curry; E.L. Fletcher; A.B. Canty; J.R. Dagnall; P.A. Griffiths; T.H. Allan; H.A. Pickthall; M. Fothergill; T.C. Swain; A. Kerr; Bruce Scott; C. Baldwin; R.J.A. Shelley; C. Buchanan; A. Hillen; W.J. Willet-Bruce; Major Maitland Kersey, DSO; Captain P.D. Murray; Captain C.F.D. Beresford; and Captain R.P. Graham.

Final preparations were made. ‘The men worked heartily; they chanted and encouraged each other to fresh exertions as they swept away almost like dust the last barriers between the purely constructive work and the real mission of the graceful vessel, which for almost two years had grown under their hands, plate by plate, deck after deck, until at length the giantess looked down with majesty upon her contemporaries. She was not built to fail; a higher destiny awaits her.’

When the time reached 10.50 am, two rockets were fired to signal the imminent launching. Another rocket followed just before 11.00 am. Then, from the white and crimson draped stand, Lord Pirrie called the launching command to Managing Director Charles Payne: ‘Now!’

Hundreds of workmen had previously knocked away the shores and wedges, leaving the hydraulic triggers and launching rams, but now that these were released, Olympic began to move. The vast crowds cheered, as did the shipyard workers at her stern and forecastle deck. Whoops, whistles and shouts erupted as she entered her natural element: ‘There she goes!’
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Thundering down the slipway, Olympic’s stern makes contact with the water during the irrevocable transition from land to sea. (Author’s collection)

‘It is extraordinary how men who have worked in shipyards all their lives become enthusiastic when a launch occurs’, an observer noted. ‘They never tire of cheering and speeding … the utmost leviathan which for a time at least has been a part and parcel of their life work. It may be that in their exuberance they forget the ego, they lose grasp of the fact that they are applauding themselves and the creation of their hands and skill. It may be said with some degree of truth that they do not pause to submit their feelings to … psychological analysis; they see a good work accomplished; they are glad; and thus they manifest their pleasure in shouts of admiration [and] cheers of congratulation.’

Shipyard workers aboard had been prepared to lower her anchors if any emergency had occurred, but there was no need. Sixty-two seconds after she began to move, Olympic was fully waterborne, having reached 12.5 knots, and now the six heavy anchors – three on each side of the ship – connected by 8in-thick wire hawsers came into successful effect; it took another forty-five seconds for her to be brought to a halt, in slightly more than her nearly 900ft length.

It was certainly a ‘dramatic moment’. An observer recorded:



… Without preconcerted sign, as by one magnetic impulse simultaneously communicated to all present, there was a hush so deep that a voice might easily have been heard from one end of the immense yard to the other. It was impossible to avoid the intense thrill of anticipation for anyone who knew that, with the sole exception of that misconceived, misbegotten monstrosity the Great Eastern, the vessel before us, of twice her size, represented the most gigantic leap forward in marine architecture the world has ever seen.

Her towering sides showing virgin white behind the sombre interlacery of the massive gantry present a bulk which beggars description. Her sharp bow, beautiful lines and clean run from stem to stern suggest speed, her tremendous weight, rigidity and strength indicate stability, and like the Oceanic. eleven years ago she may proudly claim the title of ‘Queen of the Seas’.

… There is something awe-inspiring in the proportions of the Olympic. She bulks largely in one’s imagination, and suggests marvellous developments in future transmarine operations. Moderate terms and comparison between this gigantic creation of shipbuilder’s genius and her predecessors fail of their purpose when applied to such a ship, and the mind is almost staggered by her wonderful size, her general dimensions internally, and the luxury and completeness of her appointments. She is the apotheosis of skill as applied to the dominion of the ocean, and really dominates and triumphs over all previous achievements … 



After tugs had trained to pull the vessel to her outfitting wharf, Olympic suffered her first accident. While being towed, the wind that had earlier decreased returned and a gale caught Olympic’s towering 24,600-ton hull. As a result, she came into the side of the buttress, only denting slightly some of her hull plates and scraping her paintwork even though it had been quite a heavy blow.

Now that the launch was over, Lord Pirrie entertained the numerous guests at a special luncheon at Queen’s Island. It was not until 2.15 pm that they left for Dublin aboard a special train from the Great Victoria Street terminal.

Numerous others – special correspondents, artists and photographers – were treated to a repast at Belfast’s lavish Grand Central Hotel, hosted by Messrs Ismay, Imrie & Company, White Star’s management company. The menu was splendid:



Huitres au Naturel

***

Turbot Bouilli. Sauce Hollandaise

Pommes Naturel

***

Petit Bouchées de Foie Gras

***

Filet de Mouton à la Francais

Pommes Olives. Choux de Bruxelles

***

Punch à la Russe

***

Faisan à la Brôche

Salade

***

Trifle d’Orleans

Meringues glacée Pralinée

***

Dessert

***

Café1



Among the speeches was that of the well-known nautical commenter, Mr Frank T. Bullen; the launch had been a ‘world-thrilling event,’ he said, ‘without hyperbole, conducted in an unpretentious manner that was “particularly British”.’ Mr Saxon J. Payne, of Harland & Wolff, warmly thanked those who had had the foresight to build and propose such a ship. Harland & Wolff ‘were prepared at any time to turn out another vessel like the Olympic’. Those present were cordially thanked for their reception of the toast. ‘Hear, hear!’ many cried, applauding.

Mr J. Barker said he had seen over 200 vessels launched at the shipyard and ‘thought nothing of them’. But when he saw Olympic’s launching, he was quite moved. ‘It had been a pleasure to serve under people who believed in deeds, not words. The ship’s departure date could not be announced officially, although it might be at any time between May and July 1911.’ As his speech finished, he was greeted with applause.

That evening the cross-Channel visitors ‘were entertained to dinner previous to leaving for England and Scotland’.

On the following day lavish articles were written about the launch and the vessel herself. As well as brief descriptions of her extensive interiors, there were also technical details and imaginative forecasts. Commenting on the engines, one paper noted of their type: ‘… this arrangement having been the most satisfactory from an engineering point of view, and at the same time the most beneficial to passengers, retaining for them the most highly perfected reciprocating engine on the “balanced” principle, eliminating vibration, and thus securing the utmost comfort by the smooth working of he ship’.

London’s Daily Mail could not resist comparing the new White Star liner to the Lusitania, now in her third year of service. They published a detailed comparison, although there were a number of inaccuracies:







	 

	Olympic

	Lusitania





	Length

	840ft

	762.2ft





	Breadth

	92ft

	87.8ft





	Depth

	62ft

	56.6ft





	Gross tonnage

	45,000

	31,550





	Horsepower

	48,000 to 50,000

	70,000





	Cost

	£1,500,000 to £2,000,000

	About £1,300,000









While the length and breadth figures often varied, from the length between perpendiculars and overall length to the moulded and extreme breadths, and the depth figures could also differ, the paper overestimated Olympic’s cost and did the opposite with her Cunard rival. ‘There was no christening ceremony at yesterday’s launch,’ the paper remarked. It estimated that the Titanic would probably be launched in January 1911, forgetting that although the ships had been laid down three months apart, the time lag had since grown due to the greater portion of effort being focused on Olympic as the lead vessel of the class, which bore her name.

Teutonic’s, Majestic’s and Oceanic’s launches and careers were recalled, while there was a general consensus that the Olympic’s life would be even more spectacular and successful.

The Times of London recorded some of the preparations for the launching and their success:
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After being launched, Olympic – her own propelling machinery not yet installed – had to be towed to the outfitting wharf by a team of tugs. (Scientific American, 1910/Author’s collection)

The sliding ways, which were 772ft long and 63in wide were coated to a thickness of 1 inch with lubricant, 22 tons of tallow and soap being utilised for this purpose, and thus, notwithstanding the pressure on the ways, which slightly exceeded 3 tons per square foot, the vessel moved easily into the water.



Practically every newspaper report quoted three million rivets, while The Times mentioned that the largest shell plates used in the hull weighed 4.5 tons and were 36ft long; the stern frame alone weighed 70 tons, while each engine crankshaft alone weighed 118 tons and the bedplates just under 200 tons each. The heaviest of the engine cylinders weighed 50 tons, not to mention the wing propellers, which were described as weighing 38 tons each.

The New York Times recorded in detail the ship’s statistics, remarking, ‘The vessel, laid on end, would overtop the Metropolitan Tower in New York by 182ft. It is twice as long as the height of St Peter’s at Rome.’ Olympic’s luxury would exceed ‘anything at present afloat’, while she would be able to carry 2,500 passengers and steam at 22 knots.

Companies such as Harland & Wolff and the White Star Line represented ‘the mighty power of Great Britain, her control of the great proportion of the world’s carrying trade, her proud title of “Mistress of the Seas”, and the end is not met’.

‘One can imagine the scene in the North River after the gigantic vessel has passed the Statue of Liberty, the tremendous crowds lining the waterfront, through the wharves abutting on Hudson Street, and the pandemonium created by the hooting of the innumerable sirens on the ferries, tugs and steamboats that will greet her when she berths at the White Star Pier.’ Olympic was ‘an important link to the chain which binds two great nations together – the silken band of commerce, combined with the speedy and comfortable transport of passengers from Great Britain or the United States.’

By setting an approximate date for the vessel’s shipyard departure that was barely six or seven months ahead showed the extraordinary abilities of Harland & Wolff. The outfitting of the then largest vessel afloat – Mauretania – had taken a little over one year in one shipyard as her sister Lusitania neared completion elsewhere; but as Olympic was outfitted, her sister would be readied for launching in the same shipyard, and Olympic – nearly 50 per cent larger than her Cunard rival – would be completed in half the time of Mauretania.

Olympic’s ‘builders’ specification book’ of three hundred pages paid explicit attention to detail, giving the ship an elaborate specification. It was from this that the shipyard worked to transform the empty hull into the finest vessel afloat. J. Bruce Ismay himself had taken an active interest in the vessel’s specification, right down to some of the marble sink fittings for first class. He had personally gone to the effort of requesting Cunard to supply Harland & Wolff with full-size working drawings of the Utley’s vertical sliding windows used on Mauretania’s B-deck in order for windows of this design to be employed on Olympic’s B-deck. Such a move would in this day and age seem absurd – certainly it would be considered cheeky for Ismay to have asked Cunard for these plans, and even stranger that they agreed to supply them.
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